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– INTRODUCTION – 

 1. Plaintiff brings this action pursuant to the Civil Rights Act of 1871, 42 

U.S.C. § 1983, to vindicate her rights under the First And Fourteenth Amendments to 

the United States Constitution, under the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized 

Persons Act of 2000, 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc et seq., to vindicate her constitutional and 

statutory rights as protected under that Act, and pursuant to the Civil Rights Attorney 

Fee Act of 1976, 42 U.S.C. § 1988(b), for an award of attorney fees and costs of suit. 

 2. Between March and September 2014, Plaintiff was incarcerated as an 

inmate in the Cuyahoga County jail. During that period, she was housed in a trustee 

pod, in which inmates enjoyed privileges and conditions of confinement substantially 

superior to those of the general population. Plaintiff, a practicing Muslim, was required 

to attend and actively participate in weekly Christian religious services in the trustee 

pod on pain of losing those privileges and being housed in the general jail population.  

– PARTIES – 

 3. Plaintiff Sonja Abderrazzaq (“Abderrazzaq”) is and at all relevant times 

was a natural person, and a citizen of the United States and of Ohio, residing in 

Cleveland, Cuyahoga County, Ohio. The Plaintiff was raised in, at all times relevant 

hereto was, and remains an adherent to the Muslim faith. 

4. Defendant Clifford Pinkney (“Pinkney”) is a natural person and the 

Sheriff of Cuyahoga County Ohio, who is empowered and charged, inter alia, under 

Section 341.01 of the Ohio Revised Code with maintaining and operating the county jail 

in accordance with the standards set by law. Pinkney is sued here solely in his official 

capacity as Sheriff of Cuyahoga County, including for the actions and culpable inactions 

of his predecessor in office, then-Sheriff Frank Bova (“Bova”). 
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 5. Defendant Cuyahoga County (“the County”) is a political subdivision of 

the State of Ohio and, pursuant to Sections 301.22 of the Ohio Revised Code is a body 

corporate and politic capable of suing and being sued. It is required to maintain, under 

the supervision of the Sheriff, and does maintain a county jail. The County is a person 

within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

 6. Defendant Regina Watts is, and at all times relevant was, and is a 

natural person employed by the County as a corrections officer in the county jail, and as 

such vested with power and authority over the conduct and the confinement of 

prisoners therein, including the Plaintiff. She is sued in both her individual and official 

capacities. 

– JURISDICTION AND VENUE – 

  7. This Court has jurisdiction over the claims set forth herein pursuant to: 28 

U.S.C. § 1331, in that they arise under the Constitution and laws of the United States; 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a)(3), in that the claims asserted herein are authorized 

under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and; pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, which authorizes actions 

based upon the deprivation of rights guaranteed by the Constitution and laws of the 

United States. 

 8. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 (b)(1) and (2), 

in that all the Defendants reside within, and all the transactions giving rise to this action 

occurred within the Northern District of Ohio. 

– FACTS COMMON TO ALL CLAIMS – 

  9. Between March and September 2014, Plaintiff was confined as an inmate 

in the Cuyahoga County Jail, to serve a One Hundred Eighty (180) day sentence on a 

misdemeanor conviction of operating a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol.  
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 10. During her confinement, the Plaintiff was assigned to Trustee Pod 4-c, 

which is located on the fourth floor of the jail. The Trustee Pod is unlike other sections 

of the jail (hereinafter the “general population jail”) in several significant ways, all of 

which benefit of the inmates housed therein. 

11. Unlike inmates in the general population jail, inmates in the Trustee Pod 

are not confined to their cells, but rather to sleeping rooms off a common area day 

room. Inmates in the Trustee Pod, unlike inmates in the general population jail, are 

permitted to come and go freely from their sleeping areas to the day room, and to other 

sections of the pod. The sleeping areas, unlike cells in the general population jail, do not 

have locked doors.  

12. The Trustee Pod is carpeted, affords substantially greater privacy in its 

bathroom facilities that does the general population jail, and generally affords the 

inmates housed there a greater degree of privacy, comfort and comparative freedom 

than does the general population jail. The Trustee Pod is considered a preferred or 

privileged assignment by both inmates and jail staff. 

13. By contrast, the general population jail is far more crowded, confines 

inmates in traditional locked cells, and lacks other privileges and amenities enjoyed by 

inmates confined in the Trustee Pod.  

14. Shortly after being confined to the Trustee Pod, Plaintiff became aware of 

a routine practice that took place there, at least from her initial confinement in March 

2014 through and until June of that year, and perhaps afterward.  

15. Throughout this period, inmates were required to attend Christian services 

conducted by a Protestant preacher every Friday in the day room of the Trustee Pod.  
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16. Those services were decidedly and unambiguously Christian in character. 

The preacher in question – and it was typically, if not always, the same preacher – read 

from the Bible, including the New Testament, lead the inmates in religious hymns with a 

Christian emphasis and character, preached the Gospel of Jesus Christ, and worshipped 

Jesus Christ as the Son of God. 

17. Inmates who attended but did not sing or otherwise participate in these 

services were called out for special attention and ridicule by the pastor, who openly 

questioned, berated and mocked them for their passivity during services. 

18. Plaintiff, who was raised in the Muslim faith and identifies herself as a 

Muslim, was offended by this, and did not wish to attend these services, which were 

contrary and deeply offensive to her sincerely held religious beliefs.  

19. Plaintiff protested attending these services, and asked that she be allowed 

to not attend them, but was informed by Defendant Watts that attendance was 

mandatory, and that inmates who refused to attend these services would be removed 

from the Trustee Pod and placed in the general population jail.  

20. Plaintiff observed other inmates being compelled to attend services, both 

by Defendant Watts and others. At times, she observed a corrections officer corporal 

visit the Trustee Pod to compel the attendance of inmates at Christian Services on pain 

of their being reassigned to the general population jail.  

21. Defendant Watts used her position to compel inmates in the Trustee Pod 

to attended Christian services on pain of their being assigned to the general population 

jail if they refused, and was supported in this by other, higher-ranking members of the 

corrections staff at the Cuyahoga County Jail. She did so willfully, wantonly and to 

intentionally  and/or recklessly deprive the Plaintiff of her rights under the law. 
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22. Plaintiff attended and/or participated in these services under duress, and 

in the fear that if she did not attend, she would be reassigned to the general population 

jail, which she considered both more harsh in its conditions and more dangerous than 

the Trustee Pod to which she was assigned.  

23. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant Watts, and the other Defendants, 

were acting under color and authority of state law with respect to each of the matters 

described herein. 

24. Sheriff Bova, both individually and through subordinates, agents and 

those duly empowered to supervise corrections officials under his command, knew of 

the practices described herein, and ratified, acquiesced in and condoned those practices.  

25. The practice of requiring inmates in the Trustee Pod to attend Christian 

Services as a condition of their continued incarceration in that pod, as opposed to the 

general jail population, accordingly constituted the official policy, practice, custom and 

usage of Cuyahoga County.  

26. As a direct and proximate result of the actions and culpable inactions 

described herein, the Plaintiff has suffered the violation of her rights under the 

Constitution and laws of the United States, in addition to humiliation, shame, mental 

anguish and emotional distress.  

– Count I : Violation of the Establishment Clause – 

26. Plaintiff restates as if fully rewritten here each and every relevant 

averment set forth in Paragraphs 1 through 25 of this Complaint, above. 

27. By compelling inmates, including the Plaintiff, to attend religious services 

or suffer the loss of the privileges associated with the Trustee Pod, the Defendants, and 

each of them, acted to compel religious observance and activity under color of state law. 
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28. Compelling participation in Christian services under color and authority of 

state law establishes, and shows a preference for religion over non-religion, and a 

specific preference for the Christian faith over other faiths, all in violation of the 

Establishment Clause of the First Amendment, as incorporated against the states by the 

Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  

29. By taking the actions and/or engaging in the culpable inactions described 

here, the Defendants, and each of them, violated the Establishment Clause rights of the 

Plaintiff secured under the First Amendment, as incorporated against the states by the 

Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

30. As a direct and proximate result of these violations, Plaintiff suffered the 

injuries described in Paragraph 26 of this Complaint, above. 

– Count II : Violation of the Free Exercise Clause – 

31. Plaintiff restates as if fully rewritten here each and every relevant 

averment set forth in Paragraphs 1 through 30 of this Complaint, above. 

32. Compelling the Plaintiff to attend Christian services in the manner and on 

pain of the penalties described herein substantially burdened the Plaintiff in the exercise 

of her own religious faith, but served no legitimate or constitutionally cognizable, much 

less any compelling governmental interest.  

33. By taking the actions and/or engaging in the culpable inactions described 

here, the Defendants, and each of them, violated the Free Exercise Clause rights of the 

Plaintiff secured under the First Amendment, as incorporated against the states by the 

Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

34. As a direct and proximate result of these violations, Plaintiff suffered the 

injuries described in Paragraph 26 of this Complaint, above. 
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– Count III :  
Religious Land Use &  

Institutionalized Persons Act  – 
 

35. Plaintiff restates as if fully rewritten here each and every relevant 

averment set forth in Paragraphs 1 through 34 of this Complaint, above. 

36. During all relevant times, the Plaintiff was an inmate incarcerated in the 

Cuyahoga County jail, and thus confined to an institution within the meaning of 42 

U.S.C. § 1997 (1)(b)(ii). 

37. At all times relevant hereto the Defendants, acting in their official 

capacities, were a “government” within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc -1(a). At all 

times relevant hereto, Defendant Cuyahoga County generally, and the Cuyahoga County 

Sheriff and jail particularly, constituted programs and/or activities that were the 

recipients of federal funds within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-1 (b)(1). 

38. By compelling the Plaintiff to attend Christian services on pain of 

reassignment to the general jail population, Defendants substantially burdened the right 

of the Plaintiff to exercise her own religion, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 2000cc-1(a). 

39. Compelling the Plaintiff to attend Christian services served no compelling 

governmental interest, nor was it the least restrictive means of serving such an interest. 

40. As a direct and proximate result of these violations, Plaintiff suffered the 

injuries described in Paragraph 26 of this Complaint, above. 

– PRAYER – 

WHEREFORE, HAVING FULLY STATED HER CLAIMS AGAINST THEM, the Plaintiff 

hereby demands that Judgment be Entered against the Defendants, and each of them, 

as follows: 
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A. On all Counts of the Complaint, an award of compensatory money 
damages against the Defendants, and each of them, in an amount to 
be proven at trial but in excess of $100,000.00; 

B. On Counts One and Two of the Complaint, an award of punitive 
damages against Defendant Watts, in her individual capacity, in an 
amount to be proven at trial; 

C. On all Counts of the Complaint, an award of attorney fees and costs, 
pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988(b) and Civil Rule 54(D), against the 
Defendants, and each of them, and;  

D. Such other relief as the Court may, in the sound exercise of its 
discretion, deem just. 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Raymond V. Vasvari, Jr. 
 
RAYMOND V. VASVARI, JR.  
Ohio Bar Number 0055538 
THE LAW OFFICES OF  
   RAYMOND V. VASVARI, JR. 
1301 East Ninth Street 
1100 Erieview Tower 
Cleveland, Ohio 44114-1844 
Telephone | 216.458.5880 
Email | vasvari@vasvarilaw.com 
Telecopier | 216.928.0016 
 
MITCHELL L. ALPERIN 
Ohio Bar Number 0001075 
29325 Chagrin Blvd., Suite 305 
Pepper Pike, Ohio  44122 
Telephone: (216) 464-7015 
Facsimile:  (216) 464-8004 
E-Mail:  MLAatty@aol.com 
 

      Counsel for the Plaintiff  

 

  

Case: 1:15-cv-00773-SO  Doc #: 1  Filed:  04/21/15  9 of 10.  PageID #: 9



	   10	  

– JURY DEMAND – 

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 38 (b)(1), Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by a jury 

comprised of the maximum number of jurors allowable by law on each count so triable.  

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Raymond V. Vasvari, Jr. 
 
RAYMOND V. VASVARI, JR.  
Ohio Bar Number 0055538 
THE LAW OFFICES OF  
   RAYMOND V. VASVARI, JR. 
1301 East Ninth Street 
1100 Erieview Tower 
Cleveland, Ohio 44114-1844 
Telephone | 216.458.5880 
Email | vasvari@vasvarilaw.com 
Telecopier | 216.928.0016 
 
MITCHELL L. ALPERIN 
Ohio Bar Number 0001075 
29325 Chagrin Blvd., Suite 305 
Pepper Pike, Ohio  44122 
Telephone: (216) 464-7015 
Facsimile:  (216) 464-8004 
E-Mail:  MLAatty@aol.com 
 

      Counsel for the Plaintiff  
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